
 

 

 

BOARD OF SELECTMEN 

MEETING MINUTES 

 

September 25, 2006 

 
PRESENT:  
Douglas W. Lyon, Chair, Board of Selectmen  
Mark Kaplan, Selectman 
Ruth I. Clough, Selectman  
Jessie Levine, Town Administrator 
 

OTHERS PRESENT: 

Richard Lee, Road Agent 
Chad Denning, Recreation Director 
John & Maureen Chiarella, Norsk Cross-County Ski Center 
John Schlosser, Pine Hill Ski Club 
John Clough, New London resident 
Mike Fassett, Wilmot resident 
Dick Kellom, New London resident 
Jerry Gold, New London resident 
Bob & DJ Lavoie, New London residents 
John Augustine, owner of Dexter’s Inn, Sunapee 
Debbie Cross, Intertown Record 
Carolyn Dube, Argus Champion 
 
Chair Lyon called the meeting to order at 8:00 AM. 

Meeting Minutes: Ms. Clough moved to approve the meeting minutes of September 18, 2006.  Second 
Mr. Kaplan and approved 3-0. 

Cross-Country Skiing: Chair Lyon welcomed Recreation Director Chad Denning, John Schlosser of Pine 
Hill Ski Club and John and Maureen Chiarella of Norsk, in addition to the additional audience present.  
He turned the floor over to Sue Clough, who had met with Chad Denning and Jessie Levine to discuss the 
cross-country ski proposal. 

Ms. Clough introduced Chad Denning, who was hired as New London’s Recreation Director at the end of 
March.  She explained that Mr. Denning’s concept of recreation was to include all ages in all activities, 
and especially to engage people of all ages in outdoor activities.  She turned the floor over to Mr. Denning 
and to the Chiarellas and John Schlosser, and asked them to discuss their hopes for the future and their 
plans for the current year. 

Mr. Denning said that he has been trying to follow Bob Andrews’s vision for the future, but 
acknowledged that this has been difficult given Bob’s experience with traditional sports and his own with 
non-traditional sports.  He said his goal is to provide recreational opportunities for people of any age in 
any season.  He is currently working on the skating rink at the New London Inn and familiarizing himself 
with the expected quality of ice, hours, etc.  Another recreational opportunity that he grew up with is 
Nordic skiing, which some towns offered as free for residents and paid through taxes.  He thought this 
could happen in New London because of the abundance of trails.  He asked John Schlosser and John 
Chiarella to explain how they plan to operate this year, who they are trying to reach, and what they will 



Selectmen’s Meeting Minutes         
September 25, 2006 
Page 2 of 7 
 
charge for annual and daily fees, so Mr. Denning can better understand how the Town could be a part of 
their mission.  He said that the Town does not want to be in the Nordic ski business, but wants to provide 
a place for residents to ski for free.   

John Chiarella described himself as an outsider coming into a discussion at the last minute, and asked to 
hear from John Schlosser first.  Mr. Denning said he would like to hear an overview of Norsk’s plans for 
the year, and John Chiarella obliged.  He said he had been working on his plans over the last year, and 
contacted landowners in the spring regarding the use of their trails.  He said that they had planned to open 
at Dexter’s Inn, and in July started to look into trails in New London.  He plans to run a private ski club to 
a closed pool of individuals, with no day passes.  He expects to have 18-20 kilometers of trails starting at 
a parking area at the Lake Sunapee Country Club or other parking places available to him (one in Sutton, 
one in New London).  Maureen Chiarella said that the season pass would include the option to ski at 
Dexter’s as well.   

Mr. Denning asked if the main location would be at the Lake Sunapee Country Club, and John Chiarella 
said that it would be unless another option is used.  He said that a family that is involved with skiing at 
Stratton is planning to consolidate property and protect it through the Ausbon Sargent Land Preservation 
Trust, which would allow for parking and a small building.  He said that the parking at LSCC would not 
include skiing on the golf course, but would enter into North Woods.  Mr. Chiarella said the cost of the 
season pass depends on what the Board of Selectmen do, but he intends it to be $100 for the New London 
trail system, plus $50 to ski at Dexter’s Inn.  He said that there is a lot of work to be done on the 
grooming equipment, trail signs, and trail work, but they can hit the ground running to put bridges in 
place and be back in business.  Mr. Denning asked whether there would be a limit to the number of season 
passes sold, and Mr. Chiarella replied that they would not cap anything, as this is a business.  He said he 
has received a number of e-mails from skiers asking if he would be coming back.   

Mr. Denning asked if the Chiarellas had a written agreement with Doug Homan.  Mr. Chiarella said that 
the agreement is on the computer; they had reached agreement on the terms the previous Friday.  He said 
that because of what is going on with the Town, he rushed the agreement through with Doug Homan 
instead of taking time.  He said that he does not need to use Town land in any way, shape or form.  Mr. 
Denning said that he understands that the option [to use Town land] is still available, and Mr. Chiarella 
said that he would not use it.  He added that this is an extremely easy and fairly small project to do. 

Mr. Denning asked Mr. Chiarella if he was teaming up with the New London Elementary School for the 
winter ski program.  Mr. Chiarella said that he was asked, but because of the rental situation, he could not 
do it this year.  He said that would be an appropriate use of public funds, and encouraged Mr. Denning to 
run a “learn to ski program.”  He said that free ski days were not successful when Norsk was open, but 
thought that learn to ski programs would be more beneficial.  He said that if the Town wants to have a 
program that gets people out of the woodwork and wants to spend Town money, it should do things that 
make sense, such as providing equipment, lessons, snowshoe weekends, and using the money to develop 
the Town’s trails.  Mr. Chiarella said that with respect to the school, unless he can solve the problem with 
the equipment, he can’t do it and would table it for the year.  Ms. Chiarella said that in their last year of 
running Norsk, they had ten first graders come to a ski lesson.  If the Recreation Department could get 
involved with ski programs at that level, it will get people to ski.  The question is whether a free pass gets 
people to ski or whether teaching programs are better suited for that.  Ms. Clough replied that it is 
possible to consider both. 

Ms. Clough then turned the floor to John Schlosser to explain the Pine Hill Ski Club’s plans.  Mr. 
Schlosser said he and his wife opened Norsk in 1976 and sold it to the Chiarellas in 2000, but during last 
year’s hiatus he was unsure of what to do.  The Schlossers started a club to keep trails active in the area 
and created a committee to guide them.  There were volunteer activities, such as keeping books and 



Selectmen’s Meeting Minutes         
September 25, 2006 
Page 3 of 7 
 
helping with special events.  The snow was not pristine last year, but he was encouraged that not only 
were people trying to ski but the committee plugged away and finished the year with the sense that they 
had kept alive a tradition.  They groomed 16-17 kilometers of trails and had 4-5 KM of “back country” 
trails, with a few days of free instruction.  The majority of users were people who had been involved with 
skiing before, and he was pleased with the energy created and how people handled the challenging snow 
year.  He said the Club’s intention this year is to keep the ball rolling; there are no major changes in 
concept, but the committee hopes for more momentum. 

Mr. Schlosser went on to describe the location of the trails, beginning at the Low Plains and the Town’s 
sand pit to Robb’s Hut over the town line in Wilmot.  Last year, the season pass was $85 and the donation 
box for daily skiing raised about $250.  Overall, he thinks that for the program to be successful it has to 
be community-based.  He recognizes that to recapture the old days of Boston tourism one would need a 
dedicated building with heat and bathrooms to make it appealing.   

Ms. Clough asked both to talk about their plans for this year, moving forward.  John Schlosser said that 
everything is solid for winter 2006-2007, and most folks involved noted that kids were missing from the 
program last year.  He received calls from Hanover and other schools that wanted to do race training, but 
the facilities do not lend themselves to that purpose without heating facilities.  The scope is more for the 
local skier and is not designed for the patrons who used to make this a destination.   

Mr. Denning asked if either provider would have equipment, and Mr. Chiarella replied that he would have 
equipment at Dexter’s Inn and can arrange for people to get equipment elsewhere.  He has a plan to have 
a facility on a landowner’s property in the future.  Mr. Schlosser said he had made arrangements for 
rentals with the Blackwater Ski Shop and S&W Sports Shop in Concord, which seem to be the closest 
reasonable locations.  He said he had his work cut out for him just keeping up with the grooming.  Ms. 
Clough summarized that his plan is to groom the trails for club use but will refer skiers elsewhere for 
rentals, and this includes permission from the Town to park at the Shepard Pit.   

Mr. Chiarella asked if, since the Chiarellas were the ones who originated the agreement to use the 
Shepard Pit, would they have the right to continue use of that property.  Ms. Clough agreed to look into 
the question.  Chair Lyon asked Mr. Chiarella if he had changed his mind, since he had earlier said that he 
did not need to use Town facilities.  Mr. Chiarella said he does not need the facilities, but if they had a 
year in which there was no snow, he would want to keep the options open.   

Mr. Chiarella asked Mr. Schlosser if the season pass of $85 would be repeated this year, and whether 
there would be an additional cost for members who did not volunteer.  Mr. Schlosser said that all 
members needed to choose a volunteer contribution, such as working at the hut or monitoring parking, but 
if someone felt that they could not help out, they added another $20 to compensate for their inability.  Mr. 
Denning said it sounded more like a discount if they were able to volunteer their time, and Mr. Schlosser 
agreed.  He said only about nine or ten people could not volunteer. 

Mr. Kaplan said his concern is not just establishing and having the skiing, but the future as well.  He 
asked if everyone would be here again next year and every year after that?  He said he would like to see 
cross-country skiing established.  He understands that the Chiarellas have an arrangement with LSCC this 
year, but noted that it is being renovated and asked if there would be an agreement in the future.  Ms. 
Chiarella said that is why they have looked into other options, such as Dexter’s Inn.  Mr. Chiarella said 
that Norsk is coming back; there is a backup place at the LSCC and at the Town pit if needed.  He 
explained that the LSCC trails would begin at the driving range and would not otherwise use LSCC 
facilities or cross public land.  He said there was a misconception that they lost money at Norsk, and that 
is not true.  The truth is they worked way too hard for the money they made.  Mr. Kaplan asked again 
what Doug Homan planned for 2007-2008, and Mr. Chiarella replied that he does not care what Mr. 



Selectmen’s Meeting Minutes         
September 25, 2006 
Page 4 of 7 
 
Homan is doing.  He added that we can all make assumptions, but Mr. Homan said he would love to see 
Norsk back in New London. 

Mr. Denning said he has learned many things today, and he would like to talk about where the Town 
could fit in.  He acknowledged that the Town has trails, and said the focus has been on snowshoeing and 
providing outdoor winter activities.  He found out today that the Chiarellas were not doing the kids’ ski 
program. 

Mr. Chiarella asked for a timeframe on the Board of Selectmen’s decision, since he has been holding off 
on running ads and selling passes.  Ms. Clough said she is not sure why the Selectmen’s decision would 
affect his plans, and Mr. Chiarella replied that if Norsk is offered a subsidy for X amount of dollars, 
having parking lots plowed, etc., he would love to apply for that money.  It would change how he would 
structure his business, and if he cannot hit the ground running in October it would be November [before 
he started].  He asked the Selectmen to either table the issue or come to a quick decision.   

Ms. Clough said this is the first time the Selectmen heard the options from Norsk, and she is not 
comfortable with setting a time table.  The purpose of this meeting was to hear the respective plans for 
cross-country skiing.  Mr. Denning said his conversations with John Schlosser had started earlier this 
year, and the plan has not changed since May.  Mr. Chiarella said he wished he had heard of the plans 
earlier, and Mr. Denning returned that two weeks ago was the first time he had heard of Norsk’s 
intentions.  Mr. Denning said in his opinion, the more opportunities for people, the better. 

John Augustine, owner of Dexter’s Inn, asked the Selectmen if other parties were going to be allowed to 
make proposals, as this is an attractive business opportunity: free user of Town land, expenses paid, a 
stipend, and the ability to keep any profits.  He asked what the process would be for others to make 
proposals.  Mr. Denning said the Town cannot answer the question right now, but would like to talk about 
it.  Chair Lyon added that the Town would accept proposals for any ideas that would increase recreational 
opportunities for its residents; the Town had been dealing with one organization that approached it earlier 
in the year, and he looks forward to hearing other ideas come forward.  John Augustine asked if the 
current proposal was legal, ethical, and appropriate for the Town to provide free land for the use of a for-
profit business?  Mr. Kaplan replied that the Selectmen are providing access for townspeople to recreate 
in the winter, and Chair Lyon equated the Town’s effort to buying tickets to Red Sox games.  Mr. Kaplan 
said the Selectmen would enjoy any proposal that would result in the ability for townspeople to recreate.  
Ms. Clough pointed out that the proposal would have to go through the Selectmen, Budget Committee, 
and Town Meeting, unless it was paid for out of the Recreation Revolving Fund. 

Mike Fassett, a member of the Pine Hill Ski Club, said that when John Schlosser put PHSC together it 
was about his passion for the sport and not about profit.  He said it was done for the citizens of the towns, 
the community, and for people who just wanted to ski, with no business interest.   

Charles Martin, of Rowell Hill Road, said he moved here because of the opportunity to ski, and he is 
puzzled by today’s discussion.  He said the Town’s contribution of $10,000 is not a lot of money, yet 
there is a lot of energy by John Schlosser and John Chiarella, and if no one is making money, what will 
happen over the next ski season?  Mr. Kaplan agreed that is a philosophical question, and said that when 
the Selectmen make decisions, they like to know where they are going in the future.   

Jerry Gold of Shaker Street/Mountain Road said that the old trail backed up to his property, and he knows 
the Chiarellas because of cross-country skiing.  He is happy to work with Norsk in the future, but there’s 
been a lot of ad hoc thinking because Norsk closed last year.  It is not clear exactly what the Town 
proposed to do for cross-country skiing or what either group can provide, and suggested that the Town 
should take a step back and think about next year, working with citizens to develop a long-term plan.  He 
said if this were a federal agency, they would have gone out to bid, and he suggested the Town put out an 



Selectmen’s Meeting Minutes         
September 25, 2006 
Page 5 of 7 
 
RFP for others to apply, stating the time frame and definitions.  He said he does not know the history but 
John Chiarella is an intense guy, and when he is on the job he is amazed at the amount of effort expended.  
He was impressed by the quality of Norsk’s trails and the quality of Mr. Chiarella’s work.  Chair Lyon 
thanked him for his opinion, and said the Selectmen need to think long-term about recreational 
opportunities.  He appreciates everyone’s input today and acknowledged that the Town needs to do more 
planning.  He thanked everyone for coming, and this portion of the meeting ended at 8:55 AM. 

CAC: Ms. Levine reminded the Selectmen of Saturday’s CAC meeting.  Chair Lyon said he had a 
conversation with Read Clarke recently about the changing nature of businesses in New London and the 
struggle of small businesses.  He suggested bringing the question to the CAC, and the Selectmen 
discussed pushing the topic to a later meeting so they would have time to notify other businesses and 
Planning Board members of the discussion.  The Selectmen will aim for the October 28 meeting. 

Highway Department: At 9:00 AM, the Selectmen welcomed Road Agent Richard Lee.  Mr. Lee said he 
is here to discuss bids that he put out for a new tractor, and to seek the Selectmen’s approval.  He said that 
he put out specifications for a new roadside tractor, and received three bids in return.  Keats for $38,933, 
MB Tractor for $43,828, and Knoxland for $45,506.  All included the trade-in of the current tractor.  
Chair Lyon asked if Richard Lee was satisfied with each of the proposed tractors, and Richard Lee said 
that he was and that all three bids met the specifications.  Keats generally deals with New Holland 
tractors, MB deals with New Holland and Kubota, and Knoxland deals with Massey Ferguson.  In this 
case, Keats and MB both bid Ford tractors, and the biggest factor in the price was that Keats offered 
double the trade-in value that the others proposed. 

Ms. Clough asked what was budgeted, and Mr. Lee replied that the budget stated $48,000, so all three 
bids came in under budget.  He recommended the Keats bid to the Board of Selectmen.  Chair Lyon said 
that in his opinion, the Selectmen have granted Richard Lee the authority to make decisions on these 
subjects, and appreciates the information but is reluctant to substitute the Selectmen’s judgment for Mr. 
Lee’s and set a precedent of the Selectmen voting on prerogatives that the department heads have in their 
budget.  Mr. Lee agreed, but said in this case the request for bids noted that the Selectmen would award 
the bid, so he would like to follow that guideline.  That being said, Mr. Kaplan moved to accept the bid 
from Keats for the Ford tractor at $38,933.  Seconded by Ms. Clough and approved 3-0. 

Mr. Lee said he would also like to discuss the bids received on surplus equipment.  There were multiple 
bids on the Town’s one-ton dump truck, the highest being $14,700, which is a good bid price.  Ms. 
Levine said that bid had been won by a Town employee, and said that since the surplus goods are sold via 
sealed bids, there is no prohibition on Town employee participation.  The employee would have the 
benefit of knowing more about the item being sold, but that does not guarantee that the employee would 
win the bid.  She said that the bids are opened in front of her, Richard Lee, and other employees to avoid 
the appearance of mishandling.  Richard Lee said he is comfortable with the top bids in all categories 
except the Police Department’s Ford Explorer, for which there was only one bid at $250.  The Selectmen 
discussed this bid and said they would like to try to sell the vehicle on EBay or through classified ads 
before releasing it for the lower price. 

Richard Lee said he would recommend accepting the bid for the one-ton truck and lawnmowers, but the 
boat and overhead door were the decision of the Water Precinct.  The Selectmen approved awarding the 
bids as won, with the exception of the Ford Explorer. 

The Selectmen commended Richard Lee for his response to the sewer spill at Georges Mills, and Richard 
Lee in turn commended his staff for their willing assistance.  The Selectmen discussed the notification 
system and how to better communicate these events to the public. 



Selectmen’s Meeting Minutes         
September 25, 2006 
Page 6 of 7 
 
Sponsorship Ideas: Ms. Levine referred to a draft ad seeking sponsors of park benches, trash cans, recycle 
bins, and pooper scooper boxes.  The Selectmen discussed the options available but did not make a final 
decision on the subject.   

Richard Lee departed at 9:35 AM. 

KRMS Groundbreaking: Ms. Levine referred to an invitation from the Kearsarge Regional School District 
to attend the groundbreaking ceremony on Saturday at 10:00 AM in Sutton. 

Meeting Change: The Board of Selectmen moved the October 2 meeting to October 3 in light of Yom 
Kippur. 

Sunapee Open House: Ms. Levine referred to an invitation from the Town of Sunapee to attend the open 
house for the new public safety building on Saturday, October 14. 

Budget Committee Recap: Mr. Kaplan summarized the Budget Committee’s meeting of September 20, 
which focused briefly on the Planning Board’s budget problems this year and primarily on concerns about 
the Sewer Department’s budget.  Mr. Kaplan said the Budget Committee planned to send the Sewer 
Commissioners its own letter about the proposed revenue collections.  Mr. Lavoie asked “how many 
times do you have to tell us the same thing?”  Mr. Kaplan replied that the Budget Committee has a good 
point and they want to see the Sewer Commissioners do something in response to the concerns.  Mr. 
Kaplan explained that the Sewer Department problem is different from the Planning Board’s, because in 
the latter case the Selectmen can reallocate resources to cover an over-expenditure in one department.  In 
the Sewer Department’s case, they are not planning to raise enough money.  Ms. Clough said the 
Selectmen are asking the Sewer Commissioners to fund their budget more completely so that a 
readjustment does not have to occur every year.  Mr. Kaplan said the Budget Committee wants the 
readjustment to cover the budget, not to reduce the budget.  Ms. Levine said that Gus Seamans was 
present for the discussion with the Budget Committee, so the Sewer Commissioners were represented.   

Bewley Painting: Ms. Levine said that Mrs. Dorothea Bewley, wife of the late James Bewley, would like 
to donate to the Town her husband’s painting of Whipple Memorial Town Hall.  That will happen at the 
next meeting. 

There being no further public business, Chair Lyon moved to go into non-public session pursuant to RSA 
91:A-3 II (d), the acquisition of real estate.  Second Mr. Kaplan.  Roll call vote: Lyon – yes; Clough – 
yes; Kaplan – yes. 

Upon returning to public session, the Selectmen signed the documents below. 

Building Permits: 

• Colin and Margaret Waldon, 1333 Little Sunapee Road (Map 031, Lot 004), amendment permit for 
reduction of footprint by approximately 70 square feet – Approved (Permit 06-105) 

• Robert W. Ewing, Jr., 596 Main Street (Map 096, Lot 015), permit to build driveway bridges – 
Approved (Permit 06-118) 

• Robert L. Stahlman, 74 Pleasant Street (Map 084, Lot 079), permit to construct a 6’ x 9’ x 6’ shed 
around outdoor oil tank – Approved (06-119) 

• Jane H. Griggs, 49 Deerpath Road (Map 048, Lot 006), permit to rebuild existing deck to slightly 
different footprint – Approved (Permit 06-120) 



Selectmen’s Meeting Minutes         
September 25, 2006 
Page 7 of 7 
 

• Gary and Valerie Surprenant, 85 Bog Road (Map 107, Lot 021), permit to remove 1248 sq. ft. 
concrete block garage structure and replace with 728 sq. ft. garage and 156 sq. ft. farmer’s porch 
reducing import by 412 sq. ft. – Denied (Permit 06-121) refer to ZBA for less than the required 
25’side yard Article VI, C, 1 

• Jim McGuire and Ann Merritt, 292 South Pleasant Street (Map 095, Lot 049), permit to add second 
floor over existing garage keeping with same footprint – Approved (Permit 06-122) 

Sign Permit Applications:   
 

• Permanent Sign Permit Application by Mauli McDonald, 12 Lovering Lane (Map 84, Lot 59), for a  
2’ x 6’ sign indicating “Art of Nature” to be attached to building above door – Approved 

 

• Permanent Sign Application for the New London Cemetery Commission on Old Main Street and Bog 
Road for three 4’ square signs on granite posts indicating “Elkins Cemetery, West Part Cemetery, and 
Old Main Street Cemetery” with the Town Logo on each  - Approved 

 

• Permanent Sign Application for Village Sports, LLC, 394 Main Street (Map 084, Lot 001), for a 40” 
x 30” sign indicating “Village Sports, Mountain  Bike Rentals” to be placed on sign post in front of 
building – Approved 

 

• Temporary Sign Permit Application for Lake Sunapee Region Chamber of Commerce, 328 Main 
Street (Map 084, Lot 009), for a 6 foot square sign indicating “2006 Chowder Challenge, October 1, 
2006 from 12:00 PM – 3:00 PM at Sunapee Harbor”- Approved 

 

Other Items for Signature: 

• Disbursement Voucher for the week of September 25, 2006 – Approved 

• Application for Use of the Town Office Archive Room by the Kearsarge Valley Community Action 
Program for the second and fourth Tuesday of each month at 9:00 AM – 12:00 PM starting October 
10, 2006 through April 24, 2007 – Approved 

• Application for the Use of Whipple Memorial Town Hall for Karate Classes on Tuesdays at 6:00 PM 
– 8:00 PM starting on October 3, 2006 – December 19, 2006 excluding October 31, November 2, and 
December 12, 2006 - Approved 

There being no further business, the Board of Selectmen adjourned the meeting at 10:15 AM. 
 
Respectfully submitted, 
 
 
Jessie W. Levine 
Town Administrator 


